**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT
(ON APPEAL FROM THE MICHIGAN COURT OF APPEALS)**

LAKESHORE GROUP AND ITS
MEMBERS, LAKESHORE
CHRISTIAN CAMPING, CHARLES
ZOLPER, JANE UNDERWOOD,
LUCIE HOYT, WILLIAM
REININGA, KEN ALTMAN,
DAWN SCHUMANN &
MARJORIE SCHUHAM,
Petitioners-Appellants,

Supreme Court No. _____

Court of Appeals No. 340623 &
340647

Ingham Circuit Ct. No. 17-176-AA

MAHS Docket 14-026236

v.

DUNE RIDGE SA, LP, and
MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY,
Respondents-Appellees.

Dustin P. Ordway (P33213)
Ordway Law Firm, PLLC
Attorney for Petitioners-Appellants
3055 Shore Wood Drive
Traverse City, MI 49686
Tel: (616) 450-2177
Fax: (877) 317-6212

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Where a person (Ms. Underwood; Mr. Zolper) is found to satisfy the narrow statutory standard for standing of MCL 324.35305(1) to file a contested case petition challenging sand dunes permits throughout a 130-acre property pursuant to Part 353 of NREPA because the petitioner is the “owner of property immediately adjacent to a proposed use” in protected sand dunes, and where said person with standing does not change his or her status as owner of the same property, may that petitioner proceed to hearing on multiple Part 353 permits notwithstanding the developer’s sale of the sliver of property adjacent to the petitioner with standing?

Petitioners-Appellants answer: “Yes.”

Respondents-Appellees

Dune Ridge and MDEQ answer: “No.”

The Administrative Tribunal (after first answering “Yes”) answers: “No.”

The 30th Circuit Court answers: “Yes.”

The Court of Appeals answers: “No.”

II. Where a person (Ms. Hoyt; Mr. Reininga) has the exclusive right to the possession and use of his or her home, is that person an “owner” of the home for purposes of standing under MCL 324.35305(1), which authorizes a person who is the “owner of property immediately adjacent to the proposed use” to pursue a contested case, despite the fact that the homeowner’s association holds legal title to the property?

Petitioners-Appellants answer: “Yes.”

Respondents-Appellees

Dune Ridge and MDEQ answer: “No.”

The Administrative Tribunal (after first answering “Yes”) answers: “No.”

The 30th Circuit Court answers: “Yes.”

The Court of Appeals answers: “No.”

III. Where a person has moved under MEPA to intervene into a pending contested case proceeding to review Part 353 sand dunes permits, does that person have standing to be heard in the contested case?

Petitioners-Appellants answer: “Yes.”

Respondents-Appellees
Dune Ridge and MDEQ answer: “No.”

The Administrative Tribunal answers: “No.”

The 30th Circuit Court did not answer this question.

The Court of Appeals answers: “No.”

IV. Where a person does not fall within the two statutory authorizations to file a contested case petition under MCL 324.35305(1) (permit applicant; owner of immediately adjacent property) but is an interested party under the statutory scheme of Part 353 and has a substantial interest different from the general citizenry in protecting the dunes where she lives, does that person have standing to participate in the contested case proceeding pursuant to Michigan common law?

Petitioners-Appellants answer: “Yes.”

Respondents-Appellees
Dune Ridge and MDEQ answer: “No.”

The Administrative Tribunal answers: “No.”

The 30th Circuit Court did not answer this question.

The Court of Appeals answers: “No.”

RELEVANT CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Michigan Constitution

Const. 1963, art. IV, § 52:

The conservation and development of the natural resources of the state are hereby declared to be of paramount public concern in the interest of the health, safety and general welfare of the people. The legislature shall provide for the protection of the air, water and other natural resources of the state from pollution, impairment and destruction.

Const. 1963, art. VI, § 28:

All final decisions, findings, rulings and orders of any administrative officer or agency existing under the constitution or by law, which are judicial or quasi-judicial and affect private rights or licenses, shall be subject to direct review by the courts as provided by law. This review shall include, as a minimum, the determination whether such final decisions, findings, rulings and orders are authorized by law; and, in cases in which a hearing is required, whether the same are supported by competent, material and substantial evidence on the whole record. . . .

The Michigan Environmental Protection Act (“MEPA”), MCL 324.1701 *et seq.*

324.1701(1):

(1) The attorney general or any person may maintain an action in the circuit court having jurisdiction where the alleged violation occurred or is likely to occur for declaratory and equitable relief *against any person* for the protection of the air, water, and other natural resources and the public trust in these resources from pollution, impairment, or destruction (emphasis supplied).

324.1704(2):

(2) If administrative, licensing, or other proceedings are required or available to determine the legality of the defendant’s conduct, the court may direct the parties to seek relief in such proceedings. . . .

324.1705(1):

(1) If administrative . . . proceedings are available by law, the agency or court may permit the attorney general or any other person to

intervene as a party on the filing of a pleading asserting that the proceeding . . . involves conduct that has, or is likely to have, the effect of polluting, impairing, or destroying the air, water, or other natural resources or the public trust in these resources.

324.1705(2):

(2) In administrative . . . proceedings . . . , the alleged pollution, impairment, or destruction of the air, water, or other natural resources, or the public trust in these resource, shall be determined.

...

The full text of MEPA is provided with this application as **Exhibit G**.

The Sand Dunes Protection and Management Act, Part 353 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act or “NREPA,” MCL 324.35301 *et seq.*

324.35302:

The legislature finds that:

(a) The critical dune areas of this state are a unique, irreplaceable, and fragile resource that provide significant recreational, economic, scientific, geological, scenic, botanical, educational, agricultural, and ecological benefits to the people of this state and to people from other states and countries who visit this resource.

(b) The purpose of this part is to balance for present and future generations the benefits of protecting, preserving, restoring, and enhancing the diversity, quality, functions, and values of the state's critical dunes with the benefits of economic development and multiple human uses of the critical dunes and the benefits of public access to and enjoyment of the critical dunes. To accomplish this purpose, this part is intended to do all of the following:

(i) Ensure and enhance the diversity, quality, functions, and values of the critical dunes in a manner that is compatible with private property rights.

(ii) Ensure sound management of all critical dunes by allowing for compatible economic development and multiple human uses of the critical dunes.

(iii) Coordinate and streamline governmental decision-making affecting critical dunes through the use of the most comprehensive, accurate, and reliable information and scientific data available.

324.35303(1):

. . . the “atlas of critical dune areas” dated February 1989 . . . shall [be] mail[ed] . . . to each property owner of record who owns property within a critical dune area. . . .

324.35304(1)(c):

. . . Upon the written request of 2 or more persons who own real property within 2 miles of the project, the local unit of government shall hold a public hearing pertaining to the permit application.

324.35304(1)(g):

. . . [to determine whether or not to approve a permit] the department [must] determine . . . [whether] the use will significantly damage the public interest on the privately owned land . . . by significant and unreasonable depletion or degradation of any of the following . . . diversity . . . quality . . . functions of the critical dune areas within the local unit of government.

324.35304(3&4):

. . . The proposed construction, to the greatest extent possible, shall be placed landward of the crest

. . . a structure shall be constructed behind the crest of the first landward ridge of a critical dune area that is not a foredune. . . . Access to the structure shall be from the landward side of the dune

324.35317:

. . . [requiring analysis of factors like those in 35304(1)(g), above and]

(2) The decision . . . shall be based upon evidence . . . [and be] based upon sufficient facts or data . . . the product of reliable scientific principles and methods . . . applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts

The full text of Part 353 is provided with this application as Exhibit H.

GROUNDS FOR APPLICATION AND JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court should grant this application under several of the grounds set forth in MCR 7.305(B). First, this application should be granted because it involves “a legal principle of major significance to the state’s jurisprudence” and the decision of the Court of Appeals “is clearly erroneous and will cause material injustice,” *see* MCR 7.305(B)(3) and (5)(a).

MDEQ’s Part 353 sand dunes permits authorize Dune Ridge to transform a 130-acre, century-old church camp open to the public into a gated community of paved roads, large homes and septic drain fields across many acres of statutorily-protected sand dunes. The Court of Appeals erroneously rejected the standing of all petitioners on various legal grounds, the acceptance of any one of which would have allowed the underlying contested case proceeding to go forward. The complete rejection of all administrative review and, thereby, of any judicial review of the permitting process causes material injustice.¹ Constitutional provisions mandate protection of the environment and provide for judicial review of final agency decisions. The injustice of rejecting all review here is made starker by the legislative mandates in Part 353 to involve the public in the balancing of public interests in protected sand dunes against private property rights.²

¹ Notably, in a related case involving Lakeshore’s application for leave to appeal, Michigan Supreme Court case 159033, MDEQ argues that there is no need for judicial review under the Michigan Environmental Protection Act, (“MEPA”) of its Part 353 permit decisions *for the very reason that* the contested case review process rejected outright in this case is available. If the Court grants leave, it may wish to consider consolidating the appeals.

² *See, e.g.*, discussion at argument point I, below.

Each of the following four grounds for standing provided the Court of Appeals an opportunity to uphold the integrity of the contested case process and is a separate basis for granting this application under MCR 7.305(B)(3) & (5)(a). The four grounds are:

- i. Ms. Underwood and Mr. Zolper should not have been divested of their §35305(1) standing;
- ii. Ms. Hoyt and Mr. Reininga are “owners” for purposes of standing under §35305(1);
- iii. MEPA authorizes intervention; and
- iv. The petitioners satisfy grounds for common law standing.³

i. Underwood and Zolper: The Court of Appeals decision bars neighbors Jane Underwood and Charles Zolper who satisfy the standing criterion of MCL 324.35305(1) (“owner of property immediately adjacent to the proposed use”) from being heard solely because the developer sold land next to them. The effect of wrongly rejecting these two owners’ previously-established standing is a material injustice because it creates new Michigan law (that a defendant can divest a plaintiff of its established statutory standing) which avoids completely any contested case hearing to review the issuance by MDEQ of Part 353 permits to developer Dune Ridge.

³ Petitioners-Appellants address all four legal issues in this application as we submit that all involve important legal principles that merit this Court’s attention. However, we do not mean to suggest that all must be decided in order to remand the matter for a contested case hearing; that would follow from finding standing for any one of the petitioners on any ground.

This case presents issues of important jurisprudential significance because after the administrative law judge had correctly ruled that four of these petitioners (Underwood, Zolper, Hoyt and Reininga) satisfied the narrow statutory authorization of §35305(1) (“owner of property immediately adjacent”), the ALJ then took it away from Underwood and Zolper based on actions of the regulated developer even though no petitioner gave up its ownership of the relevant property, the permitted actions at issue are located across the 130 acres and *the property the developer sold was not the location of any of the permitted actions* at issue in the contested case. The Court of Appeals decision takes the decisions in other cases where a plaintiff *by his or her own actions gave up or undermined his or her standing* and misapplies it to allow the respondent to divest the petitioner of standing in this case. The Court of Appeals applies those inapposite decisions to make new law and reverse the Circuit Court decision, which had correctly ruled that petitioners with established standing did not lose it through the “brazen efforts of the developer to undermine the administrative review process.” Court of Appeals decision, Exhibit A, at p 4-5, quoting from the Circuit Court decision.

No Michigan precedent takes away standing from a petitioner or plaintiff other than in situations where the petitioner no longer satisfies the criteria for standing due to petitioner’s own actions or failures.⁴ This is especially important because these petitioners have a strong, legitimate concern as neighbors living in

⁴ Appellee MDEQ acknowledges in its brief to the Court of Appeals at page 13, fn2, that there is no Michigan case law directly on point. The need to fill this gap is a key reason leave should be granted so that this Court can address the issue properly.

the affected dunes. They are clearly interested parties under Part 353, as well as four of them having satisfied the standing authorization of section 35305(1). The petitioners did not move away or sell their property or otherwise give up the basis for their standing and, thus, their right to a contested case hearing as to all of the developer's permits for actions across the 130-acre property. The clearly erroneous Court of Appeals decision rejecting the standing of Underwood and Zolper causes material injustice.

The Court of Appeals decision also errs with regard to this issue of Underwood and Zolper's standing when it misstates the Circuit Court's ruling as rejecting any possible loss of standing after the initiation of a case. Exhibit A, at 6 ("the circuit court erred in holding that standing . . . cannot be lost"). The Circuit Court did not rule and petitioners have never argued that a petitioner cannot lose or give up one's standing, which might happen, for example, under §35305(1) if a petitioner sold the property that underlay that petitioner's standing.⁵ But that did not happen here, and the Court of Appeals decision allows the party *whose conduct and permits are to be reviewed* to take away the standing of petitioners who have not given up or undermined their standing in any way, with the effect of short-circuiting the contested case process so as to avoid all administrative and judicial review. The Circuit Court properly rejected this result and held that petitioners did

⁵ Nor does this case raise the issue of how to handle a contested case where the permitted activity is located on the sliver of land the developer sells and thereby is transferred to the buyer of that sliver. Whether that would result in dismissal, intervention into the contested case by the buyer or some other outcome is irrelevant here; the developer actions MDEQ permitted which are the subject of these consolidated contested cases were never to take place on the slivers of land the developer sold but were on other portions of the 130-acre development site.

not lose their standing in this case.⁶ The Court of Appeals jurisprudential ruling creating new law to take away standing in these circumstances is not required by law and is contrary to common sense, good judgment and legal principles of statutory interpretation.

When the Court of Appeals decision discusses tenets of statutory interpretation, it ignores the fundamental rule that a provision like §35305(1) must be read in the context of and consistent with the statute as a whole. Part 353 provides that the “owner of property immediately adjacent to the proposed use” which is the subject of MDEQ approval of a developer’s permits⁷ to transform a protected sand dune is entitled to a contested case hearing. MCL 324.35305(1). But Part 353 also says much more about the public interests and, specifically, the rights and interests of those who live in and around the affected dunes. See, for example:

- 35302(a): “The legislature finds that . . . [t]he critical dune areas of this state are a unique, irreplaceable, and fragile resource [for not only] . . . the people of this state . . . [but also for] people from other states and countries who visit
- 35302(b): “The purpose of this part is to balance for present and future generations the benefits of protecting, preserving, restoring, and enhancing the diversity, quality, functions, and values of the state’s critical dunes with the benefits of economic development and multiple human uses . . . [and] public access to and enjoyment of the critical dunes. . . .”
- 35302(b)(i): The legislature intended Part 353 to “[e]nsure and enhance the diversity, quality, functions, and values of the critical dunes . . . ,” all characteristics that pertain to the

⁶ The Circuit Court decision is so plainly correct on this point that this Court could simply affirm that decision and remand the case.

⁷ Note that a permit is required for as minor an action as planning an addition or deck on an existing home on one lot. See, MDEQ’s “Common Activities Needing a Permit” attached as Exhibit I. The scope of the plan for two-lane roads through steep slopes, 20 homes sites and an extensive community septic system is of tremendously greater scope and worthy of review. Const. 1963, art. IV, § 52; MCL 324.35301 *et seq.*

interrelationship of an affected development footprint within the local region of dunes.

- 35302(b)(ii): The legislature intended Part 353 to “[e]nsure sound management of all critical dunes [with] . . . compatible economic development . . . ,” which management must take into account the relationship of the planned actions with the surrounding area.
- 35302(b)(iii): The legislature intended Part 353 to “[c]oordinate and streamline governmental decision-making affecting critical dunes through the use of *the most comprehensive, accurate, and reliable information and scientific data available.*” Science speaks to the interrelationship between zones of dunes from the shoreline to the more elevated and vegetated back dunes, as well as throughout a local region.
- 35303(1): The department must notify “each property owner of record . . . within a critical dune area” of the designated protected sand dunes in their area.
- 35304(1)(c): A public hearing must be held if “2 or more persons who own real property within 2 miles of the project” request it.
- 35304(1)(g): The “significant and unreasonable depletion or degradation” of identified dunes characteristics “within the local unit of government” must be evaluated to determine whether or not to deny a dunes permit.
- 35304(3 & 4): The public’s interest in the view of the dunes natural features from the public trust along the shoreline is protected from structures being placed too close to the shore and from construction of access to structures from the water side.
- 35317: A decision on whether to grant a variance or special exception requires a determination by the department whether the proposal “will significantly damage the public interest” in the specified dunes characteristics of diversity, quality and functions “within the local unit of government.” These criteria inherently require an assessment of impacts not just in the project footprint but across the region of dunes where the project is planned. Such a determination must be based on “sufficient facts or data” in the file and “reliable scientific principles and methods.” §35317(2). *See, e.g.,* §35320 regarding environmental impact statements, referring to the “general location” and requiring an aerial and contour map “showing the development site in relation to the surrounding area.” An environmental impact statement may be required for a special use project, §35317(3), which includes any commercial project or multifamily use of more than 3 acres. §35301(j).

In sum, Part 353 evinces a strong policy established by the legislature under the constitution, art. IV, § 52, in favor of analysis of permit applications from the perspective not only of the general public but particularly the potential impacts on the local public and the dunes in which they live and recreate. The importance of the standing of concerned neighbors is heightened here because two sides of the 130-acre property are entirely devoid of individual neighbors, with the Lake Michigan shoreline forming the west boundary and Oval Beach Park the north.

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