STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

LAKESHORE GROUP, CHARLES ZOLPER, Supreme Court No. 159524  
JANE UNDERWOOD, LUCIE HOYT, and  
WILLIAM REININGA, Court of Appeals No. 340647  
Consolidated with No. 340623

Petitioners/Appellants,  
v Lower Court Case No. 17-176-AA

STATE OF MICHIGAN, DEPARTMENT OF MAHS Docket 14-026236  
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY,

Respondent/Appellee,

And

DUNE RIDGE SA LP,

Intervenor/Appellee.

---

Dustin P. Ordway (P33213)  
Ordway Law Firm, PLLC  
Attorney for Petitioners-Appellants  
3055 Shore Wood Drive  
Traverse City, MI 49686  
Tel: (616) 450-2177  
Fax: (877) 317-6212  
dpordway@ordwaylawfirm.com

Daniel P. Bock (P71246)

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

Petitioners claim that the Court of Appeals failed to read MCL 324.35302(1) “in the context of and consistent with the statute as a whole.” That is wrong. The Court of Appeals' well-reasoned opinion devoted several paragraphs to consideration of Part 353's overall purpose and the statutory language of its relevant provisions. See 3/21/2019 Op & Order at pp 6-9. As the Court of Appeals noted, the paramount purpose of Part 353 is to “balance . . . the benefits of protecting, preserving, restoring, and enhancing the diversity, quality, and values of the state's critical dunes with the benefits of economic development . . . .” MCL 324.35302(a)-(b) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals' ruling comports with that purpose by respecting the balance struck by the Legislature in limiting permit challenges only to permit applicants and those who “own property immediately adjacent to the proposed use.” MCL 324.35305(1). Petitioners' contention that the Court of Appeals should have further “explore[d] the many provisions of the statute that emphasize local interest and local citizens” and engaged in “a more

thoughtful analysis of standing under § 35305(1)", Petrs Appl at p 28, is contradicted by the well-reasoned Court of Appeals decision. In any event, Petitioners' argument certainly fails to establish the Court of Appeals' decision was "clearly erroneous and will cause material injustice." MCR 7.305(B)(3) & (5)(a).

Part 353 provisions quoted by Petitioners actually support the Court of Appeals' construction of Section 324.35305(1) by emphasizing the balance between preservation of the dunes and permitting economic development that the Legislature intended to achieve by imposing certain limits on statutory standing to sue under that section:

- 35302(b): "The purpose of this part is to balance for present and future generations the benefits of protecting, preserving, restoring and enhancing the diversity, quality, functions, and values of the state's critical dunes with the benefits of economic development and multiple human uses . . . ." (emphasis added).
- 35302(b)(ii): Part 353 is intended to "[e]nsure sound management of all critical dunes [with] compatible economic development . . . ." (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals rightly rejected Petitioners' request to ignore Section 35305's clear requirements based on Petitioners' "fairness" argument and one-sided interpretation of Part 353. 3/21/2019 Op & Order at p 8. As the Court of Appeals recognized, "courts are 'not the proper forum in which to debate the wisdom of the Legislature . . . .'" See 3/21/2019 Op & Order at p 12 (quoting *Amb's v Kalamazoo Co Rd Comm*, 255 Mich App 637, 650; 662 NW2d 424 (2003)). The language chosen by the Legislature in Section 35305(1) was not inadvertent, but should be interpreted and enforced as written. See *Bush*, 484 Mich at 169, 772 NW2d 272 ("This Court cannot assume that language chosen by the Legislature is inadvertent.").

Contrary to Petitioners' hyperbolic allegations, the Court of Appeals' decision was not a "complete rejection of all administrative review" and it assuredly does not prevent "any judicial review of the permitting process." Petrs/Appellants' Application for Leave to Appeal ("Application"), at xviii, xxiv. If either owner of property immediately adjacent property to Petitioners decides to develop the property, the owner would have to obtain a Part 353 permit. At that time, Petitioners would presumably have standing to request a contested case hearing under MCL 324.35305(1).<sup>3</sup> The ALJ's final decisions would be subject to judicial review.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly respected the balance established by the Legislature. See *People v Weeder*, 469 Mich 493, 497; 674 NW2d 372 (2004) ("If the statute's language is clear and unambiguous, we assume that the Legislature intended its plain meaning and we enforce the statute as written.").

**2. Petitioners Can Lose Statutory Standing During the Pendency of a Proceeding, Which Moots Their Claims.**

The ALJ and Court of Appeals also rightly held that Petitioners Underwood and Zolper lost statutory standing to challenge the permit decisions. Petitioners Underwood and Zolper originally had standing under MCL 324.35305(1). Because Dune Ridge sold the parcels of property to which Petitioners Underwood and Zolper were "immediately adjacent," the ALJ and Court of Appeals found that Petitioners Underwood and Zolper lost standing as they no longer were the "owners" of property "immediately adjacent" to Dune Ridge's proposed use. See 3/21/2019 Op & Order at pp 13-14; 7/7/2016 Op & Order at 3-4 (dismissing Ms. Underwood) [AR 188-89]; 2/13/2017 Op & Order at 2-3 (dismissing Mr. Zolper) [AR 3-4].

---

<sup>3</sup> It is extremely unlikely that any property immediately adjacent to Ms. Underwood's property will be developed as the Oval Beach Preservation Society purchased the 30-acre parcel adjacent to her property to preserve it in its undeveloped condition.

Contrary to Petitioners' unsupported allegation, Michigan case law amply supports the ALJ and Court of Appeals' holding that a party can lose statutory standing after the commencement of the action. See, eg, *Gorbach v US Bank Nat'l Assoc*, No 308754, 2014 WL 7440290, at \*2-\*4 (Mich App Dec 30, 2014)(holding that the plaintiffs lost standing to challenge the foreclosure of their home because the redemption period expired after they filed their complaint)(**Exhibit C**); *Awad v GMAC*, No 302692, 2012 WL 1415166, at \*3-\*4 (Mich App Apr 24, 2012)(when a party loses a property interest, which was the party's sole basis for standing, then the party loses standing)(**Exhibit D**); *Sharma v Mooney*, No 246257, 2004 WL 2072046, at \*2 (Mich App Sept 16, 2004)("[A]fter a bankruptcy petition is filed, a debtor, like plaintiff here, loses standing to pursue these causes of action," namely, state law tort claims pled prior to the bankruptcy petition, "because they are part of the bankruptcy estate")(**Exhibit E**); accord *Aichele v Hodge*, 259 Mich App 146, 166; 673 NW2d 452 (2003)(explaining that Michigan law recognizes the distinction between sufficiently pleading standing and "actually being able to prove standing"); see also *Cnty Rd Ass'n of Mich v Governor*, 287 Mich App 95, 110; 782 NW2d 784 (2010)("[T]he burden that must be met to establish that standing exists increases over the course of the proceeding.")(emphasis added).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioners must be able to maintain a statutory interest (statutory standing) in bringing their claims at all times during the litigation. See *Arizonans for Official English v Arizona*, 520 US 43, 68 n22 (1997) ("The requisite personal interest that must exist at the commencement of the litigation (standing) must continue throughout its existence (mootness)" (citation omitted)); *City Commns Inc v City of Detroit*, 888 F2d 1081, 1086 (CA 6 1989) ("A plaintiff must maintain standing throughout all stages of his litigation.").

As the Court of Appeals noted, loss of statutory standing is also sometimes analyzed as a mootness issue. 3/21/2019 Op & Order at pp 10-11. Michigan courts have "eschew[ed] . . . cases that are moot at any stage of their litigation," not just at the time of filing. *Anglers of AuSable Inc v DEQ*, 486 Mich 982, 989; 783 NW2d 502 (2010)(quoting *Nat'l Wildlife Fedn*, 471 Mich at 614). "Where the facts of a case make clear that a litigated issue has become moot, a court is, of course, bound to take note of such fact and dismiss the suit . . ." *Mich Chiropractic Council v Comm'r of Fin & Ins Servs*, 475 Mich 363, 371 n15; 716 NW2d 561 (2006)(overruled on other grounds by *Lansing Schs Educ Assoc v Lansing Bd of Educ*, 487 Mich 349, 792 NW2d 686 (2010); see also *B P 7 v Bureau of State Lottery*, 231 Mich App 356, 359; 586 NW2d 117 (1998)(recognizing that the court lost jurisdiction during the pendency of the case because the issue became moot).

The Court of Appeals' reasoning is in accord with federal courts' acknowledgment that standing can be lost during the pendency of an action, often analyzed as a mootness issue. See, eg, *Granger v Klein*, 197 F Supp 2d 851, 878 (ED Mich 2002)("If the plaintiff loses standing at any time during the pendency of the court proceedings, the matter becomes moot, and the court loses jurisdiction."). As the United States Supreme Court aptly noted, mootness is "standing set in a time frame." *US Parole Comm'n v Geraghty*, 445 US 388, 397 (1980). "[S]tanding applies at the sound of the starting gun, and mootness picks up the baton from there." *Sumpter v Wayne Cnty*, 868 F3d 473, 490 (CA 6 2017). "Mootness . . . is akin to saying that . . . changed circumstances have intervened to destroy standing." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected the Circuit Court's ruling that statutory standing may only be "determined at the time of filing". 3/21/2019 Op & Order at pp 9-10. The Circuit Court's analysis misconstrued *Girard v Wagenmaker*, 437 Mich 231, 244 (1991), which only

stands for the unremarkable proposition that standing must exist at the time the complaint is filed. See *Girard*, 437 Mich at 377-78. Unlike *Girard*, the issue in this case is not whether Petitioners Underwood and Zolper had standing when they filed their petitions; the issue is whether changed circumstances caused them to lose their statutory standing and moot their claims. The Court in *Girard* never analyzed whether changed circumstances could affect statutory standing. See *id.* Accordingly, the Circuit Court's reliance on *Girard* was entirely misplaced.

**3. Petitioners Underwood and Zolper No Longer Have Statutory Standing to Sue and Their Claims are Moot.**

As the ALJ and Court of Appeals found, when Dune Ridge moved for summary disposition, Petitioners Underwood and Zolper no longer owned property immediately adjacent to any property that Dune Ridge owned. Accordingly, Petitioners Zolper and Underwood no longer satisfied the Legislature's requirements for statutory standing. See MCL 324.35305(1). Petitioners no longer had standing to sue under that Section and their claims became moot.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected the Circuit Court's holding that *how* Petitioners lost standing (i.e., by actions of Dune Ridge, not Petitioners), is somehow relevant.<sup>4</sup> 3/21/2019 Op & Order at pp 9-10. As the ALJ recognized, the basis for standing provided by the legislature—MCL 324.35305—does not depend on how the parties came to live "immediately adjacent" to each other, or how they stopped being immediately adjacent to each other. See 2/13/2017 Op & Order at 3 ("[T]he governing statute requires ownership, but is not concerned with how ownership is vested or divested.") [AR 4]. The Legislature simply said that the

---

<sup>4</sup> Without any factual support, the circuit court also called Dune Ridge's sales of its property "brazen, bad-faith efforts to circumvent the administrative review process." Opinion & Order at 6. The circuit court's characterization is simply not true. Dune Ridge worked with Oval Beach Preservation Society and Vine Street Properties to sell those parcels of land well before the contested case ever started. See Aff of P Heule at ¶¶ 3-13 [AR 110-112].

petitioner must own property immediately to the proposed use. MCL 324.35305. Because Petitioners do not own any property immediately adjacent to any property owned by Dune Ridge, Petitioners do not have standing.

Petitioners claim that "[n]o Michigan precedent takes away standing from a petitioner or plaintiff" based on the defendant's action. That is wrong. Case law from this Court is clear that a defendant's voluntary action may divest a plaintiff of standing, and the court of jurisdiction, over a case. In *Street R Co of E Saginaw v Wildman*, 58 Mich 286, 286; 25 NW 193 (1885), the plaintiff railroad sought to enjoin the defendant from moving a building along its railroad tracks "to the great interruption of its business and profits, the serious inconvenience of the public, and the hindrance and delay of the United States mails which it carried . . . ." *Id.* Shortly after the lower court dismissed the plaintiff's claim, but before the plaintiff appealed to this Court, the defendant moved the building, thereby negating any ability to prevent the claimed harm or a basis for injunctive relief. *Id.* On appeal, this Court determined that "[i]f the complainant was ever entitled to the [equitable] relief prayed for, we cannot now make any decree to aid it" because "[w]e can hardly prevent [the defendant] from doing what has already been done." *Id.* More recently, in *People v Jones*, this Court held that a prosecution's voluntary dismissal of charges during a case deprived the court of jurisdiction. 486 Mich 29, 32-33; 782 NW2d 187 (2010).

Similarly here—as the Court of Appeals correctly reasoned—the fact that Dune Ridge conveyed parcels to third parties (thus negating Petitioners' standing) has no bearing on whether the Court can enforce statutory rights in this case. See *Jones*, 486 Mich at 32-33; *Street R Co of E Saginaw*, 58 Mich at 287. MCL 324.35305(1) only grants a statutory cause of action to permit

applicants or owners of property "immediately adjacent to the proposed use"; it is not concerned with how ownership is vested or divested.

Moreover, Petitioners' repeated assertions that they have an "interest" in the subject matter of the permitting process and remain "concerned" about the development's effect on the sand dunes generally, *Petr's Appl.*, at pp 18, 23, 25, 31, neither preserves their statutory standing nor saves their claims from being moot. Section 35305's private cause of action does not predicate the right to intervene in a contested case on one's "concerns" or one's alleged "interest" in a contested case proceeding. Instead, Section 35305(1) requires a petitioner to be an "owner of property immediately adjacent to the proposed use." See MCL 324.35305(1). Because Petitioners *Zolper* and *Underwood* no longer satisfy that requirement, they lack statutory standing to pursue claims under that section and their claims are moot. See *Am Civil Liberties Union v Nat Sec Agency*, 493 F3d 644, 658, n19 (CA 6 2007)("[T]he analysis of whether the plaintiffs have standing to bring a statutory claim necessarily requires a determination of whether the plaintiffs were injured under the relevant statute.")(emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals aptly distinguished Petitioners' cases, which all involve a specific exception to the mootness doctrine "[w]here a party voluntarily ceases an activity challenged as illegal." *Dept of Social Servs v Emmanuel Baptist Preschl*, 434 Mich 380, 425; 455 NW2d 1 (1990). Dune Ridge's challenged activity—seeking Part 353 permits for a proposed use—has not ceased. And Dune Ridge's sales of adjacent parcels to third parties are not illegal; indeed, Petitioners do not object to those sales. See *Petr's Appl.*, at p 17 ("No one has objected to the developer's right to sell its land."). Presumably, this is because the sales gave Petitioners the relief they sought (living adjacent to property not being developed by Dune Ridge).

The *Blankenship* case that Petitioners cited is distinguishable for another reason too: in *Blankenship*, the plaintiff sought redress for harm that already occurred. See *Blankenship v Superior Controls, Inc*, 135 F Supp 3d 608, 616-27 (ED Mich 2015). Thus, when the defendant attempted to negate the plaintiff's statutory standing, the plaintiff would not have been able to seek compensation for the harm already done. *Id.* In other words, the case was not moot because the plaintiff still needed the relief the plaintiff sought. Here, however, Petitioners seek to prevent harm that they claim will occur. Dune Ridge's actions (which negated Petitioners' statutory standing) ensured that Petitioners obtained the very relief they wanted (to live immediately adjacent to property not developed by Dune Ridge). Accordingly, Petitioners' attempt to shoehorn Dune Ridge's property sales into the federal mootness exception for voluntary cessation of illegal activity was rightly rejected by the Court of Appeals.

Because Petitioners are no longer owners of property immediately adjacent to the proposed use, they do not have standing to bring claims under Section 35305 and their claims are moot. Accordingly, the ALJ and Court of Appeals' holding is correct.

**B. PETITIONERS HOYT AND REININGA DO NOT HAVE STANDING.**

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